#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

#### **CASE NUMBER 2009-CA-00053**

# HILL BROTHERS CONSTRUCTION COMPANY, INC.,

**Appellant** 

VS

MISSISSIPPI TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION,

**Appellee** 

Appeal from Final Judgment of Hinds County Circuit Court, First Judicial District (Hon. William F. Coleman, Circuit Judge) on Appellee's Motion for Complete Summary Judgment

#### **BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT**

## ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

#### **OF COUNSEL:**

Ralph B. Germany, Jr., MSB
Justin J. Peterson, MSB #
Bradley Arant Boult Cummings LLP
188 E. Capitol Street, Suite 400
Jackson, MS 39201

### I. STATEMENT OF ISSUES

The outcome of this case hinges upon the interpretation and effect given the following ending sentence of the standard petroleum price adjustment provision in state highway construction contracts:

After the expiration of contract time, including all authorized extensions, adjustments will be computed using fuel and material prices that are in effect at the expiration of contract time.

(R.E. 11, R. 2191).

- A. Did the trial court err in ruling that this sentence was clear and unambiguous and should be interpreted as urged by Appellee, Mississippi Transportation Commission ("Commission")?
- B. Did the trial court err in upholding the Commission's interpretation when it is contrary to the plain language and stated principal purpose of the provision which includes the sentence?
- C. Is the sentence ambiguous as to which of two price adjustment factors is being changed or replaced "after expiration of contract time", such that the sentence should be construed against the factor advocated by the Commission as drafter of the language and in favor of the factor urged by Appellant Hill Brothers Construction Company, Inc. ("Hill Bros.")?
- D. Did the trial court err in upholding the Commission's interpretation of the sentence because it contravenes the authorizing statute and should be struck as being beyond the Commission's power to have promulgated?

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. Nature of the Case

This case concerns the interpretation and proper application of a standard provision in state highway construction contracts. The provision at issue adjusts contract pay items to account for fluctuating oil prices on a monthly basis during performance of the work. This adjustment provision is authorized by Section 31-7-13(i) of Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended. This statute grants a governing authority like the Commission permission to include in its contracts a price adjustment clause for petroleum products used in the execution of the work, provided that such adjustment is made "with relation to the cost to the contractor" by "adjusting unit prices for the change in the cost of such petroleum products" according to an "industry-wide index established and published monthly by the Mississippi Department of Transportation." (R.E. 12, R. 2571).

The parties agree on the interpretation of the Commission's petroleum price adjustment provision in the subject contract prior to expiration of allowable time. The Commission establishes a baseline for petroleum prices in its bid solicitation for each highway project which bidders are instructed to use in calculating their bids. This levels the playing field by removing from the bidding process the risks of unpredictable swings in petroleum prices over the duration of highway projects, which often last two to three years. The adjustment provision also protects the state from having to pay premiums for bids that would otherwise include large contingencies to cover possible increases in oil

Mandatory and Optional Record Excerpts, filed in accordance with M.R.A.P. 30, have been separately paginated in the upper right hand corner as "R.E.\_\_\_\_" to distinguish from other page references. Cited portions to the Record on Appeal are indicated as "R.\_\_\_\_\_".

prices which may not materialize. The principal purpose of the petroleum price adjustment provision is stated in the provision itself at the outset:

Because of the uncertainty in estimating the costs of petroleum productions that will be required during the life of a contract, adjustment in compensation for certain materials is provided as follows:

(R.E. 9, R. 2189).

After contract award, designated pay items affected by petroleum prices are adjusted each month according to agreed upon formulas by comparing the baseline set at the time of bidding with the actual price of petroleum products, based upon an accepted industry-wide cost index published monthly. The authorizing statute requires that "[t]he price adjustment clause shall be based on the cost of such petroleum products only and shall not include any additional profit or overhead as part of the adjustment." (R.E. 12, R. 2571). The monthly adjustments, made either up or down according to the industry index, closely correlate to the increased prices a contractor actually pays or the savings realized when prices drop. This means that the adjustment as authorized by statute should be strictly a pass-through mechanism, totally dependent upon variations in cost to contractors of petroleum products and therefore completely neutral as to profit and loss.

As shown, there are two factors for adjustment each month of pay items in state highway construction contracts affected by oil prices:

- Factor 1 is the fixed baseline price set by the Commission at the time of bidding.
- Factor 2 is the fluctuating price of oil according to monthly indices.

This dispute arises because of a change in the adjustment mechanism inserted in the provision by the Commission to take effect upon expiration of the allowable contract time. Specifically at issue is the last sentence of the petroleum price adjustment provision, as follows:

After the expiration of contract time, including all authorized extensions, adjustments will be computed using fuel and material prices that are in effect at the expiration of contract time.

(R.E. 11, R. 2191). This language raises the question of whether "prices in effect at expiration of contract time" becomes the new Factor 1 or a new Factor 2.

Appellant Hill Bros. interpreted this sentence to mean that upon expiration of contract time, the prices then in effect replaced the original baseline (i.e. a new Factor 1) from which future adjustments would be computed according to the fluctuations in the monthly price indices. Appellee Commission interpreted and applied this sentence to retain the original fixed baseline at the time of bidding and to create another fixed level of pricing in effect when contract time expired (i.e. a new Factor 2). The Commission then used this static differential for all periods thereafter and ceased to adjust prices "with relation to the cost to the contractor", contrary to the statutory authorization. Among other things, the Commission's interpretation meant that if contract time happened to expire when there was a spike in oil prices, the contractor would be entitled to the same high fixed adjustment, even though petroleum prices thereafter declined and the fixed adjustment produced a windfall above the prices the contractor was actually paying for petroleum products.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Unfortunately for Hill Bros., time happened to expire for the contract at issue at a comparatively low point and thereafter rose significantly. Because the Commission held Hill Bros. to a fixed adjustment at a low level, Hill Bros. was forced to pay hundreds of thousands of dollars out of its own pocket for petroleum products used to complete the subject contract. Clearly, under the Commission's interpretation the adjustments made at expiration of contract time were no longer "with relation to the cost of the contractor" as required by the authorizing statute.

Hill Bros. seeks relief from the considerable losses it experienced because of the Commission's change in adjustment methodology at the expiration of contract time. Hill Bros. respectfully submits that the Commission's revised methodology is contrary to the plain language and principal purpose of the petroleum adjustment provision as set forth in the Commission's contract. Alternatively, Hill Bros. contends that its interpretation of the provision at least is reasonable and, under the doctrine of contra proferentem, the provision must be construed against the Commission as drafter of the language in dispute. Lastly, Hill Bros. asserts that even if the Court finds the last sentence of the provision is unambiguous and agrees with the Commission's interpretation, the sentence contravenes the authorizing statute, exceeds the Commission's power, and should be stricken, allowing petroleum prices to be adjusted in the same manner, both before and after expiration of contract time.

## B. <u>Course of Proceedings and Disposition in the Court Below</u>

Hill Bros. filed a motion for partial summary judgment asserting that the last sentence of the petroleum price adjustment provision in a state highway construction contract should be interpreted so as to permit after expiration of contract time adjustments "with relation to the cost to the contractor". Hill Bros.' motion further contended, in the alternative, that the last sentence of the provision was ambiguous and should be construed against the Commission as drafter. Hill Bros.' motion finally argued that the Commission's interpretation of how the provision operated after expiration of contract time could not stand because such interpretation violated the authorizing statute and exceeded the Commission's power to impose.

The Commission filed a cross-motion for complete summary judgment urging its interpretation of "no more adjustment" after the expiration of contract time. Honorable William F. Coleman, Hinds County Circuit Judge, granted the Commission's cross-motion. (R.E. 8, R. 2524). Hill Bros. timely appealed. (R. 2528).

### C. Statement of Facts

As evidenced by their respective motions for summary judgment, the parties agree that there is no genuine issue of material fact as to the proper interpretation and application of the petroleum price adjustment provision after expiration of contract time. There is no dispute that the petroleum price adjustment provision at issue was included in the underlying state highway construction contract. Likewise, there is no dispute over the content of the adjustment provision nor about how the provision was interpreted by the Commission both before and after expiration of contract time.

While the acknowledged existence and wording of the petroleum price adjustment provision are the only truly material facts necessary for the Court's decision, Hill Bros. offers the following factual context for the issues before the Court.

On or about October 10, 2000, the Commission awarded Contract No. NH-0056-02(33)PH2/101815 - Oktibbeha County ("Contract") to D. B. Johnson Construction Co., Inc. ("Johnson") for construction of approximately 6.25 miles of Mississippi Highway 25 in Oktibbeha County, Mississippi. See Plaintiff's Itemization of Undisputed Facts. ("Pl. Item.") ¶1 (R.E. 46, R. 143). Travelers Casualty & Surety Company of America ("Travelers") issued to the Commission a performance bond guaranteeing Johnson's performance of the Contract. Id. ¶2 (R.E. 47, R. 144). Johnson's Contract specified an original duration of slightly more than three years, with an original completion date of October 13, 2003. Second Affidavit of John F. Hill, Jr. ("Hill 2d. Aff.") at ¶5 (R.E. 32, R. 2452). However, Johnson defaulted prior to completion, and the Commission called upon Travelers to arrange completion of Johnson's Contract pursuant to Travelers' performance bond. Id.

On September 16, 2003, Travelers and Hill Bros. entered into a Completion Agreement Between Surety and Contracts ("Completion Agreement") by which Hill Bros. agreed to complete the Johnson Contract for Travelers. <u>Id.</u> ¶6 (R.E. 32, R. 2452); Affidavit of James M. Peters, Jr. ("Peters Aff.") ¶3 (R.E. 43, R. 2469). Relevant excerpts of the Completion Agreement itself without voluminous exhibits are reproduced at R.E. 13-22 and in full text at R. 27-40.

At the time of the Completion Agreement, Hill Bros. estimated that the work defaulted upon and left unperformed on the Johnson Contract would take over two years to finish, even though there was less than a month of allowable contract time remaining (i.e. September 16, 2003 - October 13, 2003). Hill 2d Aff. at ¶¶33-34 (R.E. 38-40, R.

2458-2459). Hill Bros. therefore stipulated in its Completion Agreement that Hill Bros. would complete the work remaining in the Johnson Contract in 840 calendar days from the date the Completion Agreement was signed in September 2003. <u>Id.</u> at ¶34 (R.E. 39, R. 2459). This translated into 813 calendar days beyond the original expiration date for the Johnson Contract of October 13, 2003. <u>Id.</u>

The Completion Agreement further provided that Hill Bros. was entitled to the benefit of any time extensions thereafter given for excusable delays in Hill Bros.' performance of the Johnson Contract and to "[a]ny other adjustment factor otherwise provided for in the [Johnson] Contract Documents. Peters Aff. at ¶6 (R.E. 43, R. 2469); First Affidavit of John F. Hill, Jr. ("Hill 1st Aff.") at ¶8 (R.E. 25, R. 96); Completion Agreement at §§4.1 and 5.1 xvi (R.E. 18, R. 32).

The Contract Documents of Johnson's Contract contained Special Provision No. 907-109-01, dated 12/4/97, entitled "Measurement and Payment for Changes in Cost of Construction Materials (Fuels and Asphalt)." Hill 1<sup>st</sup> Aff. at ¶9 (R.E. 25, R. 96). The referenced Special Provision is set out in full text at R.E. 9-11, R. 2189-2191 and is referred to herein as the "petroleum price adjustment provision". The petroleum price adjustment provision in the Johnson Contract constituted an adjustment factor to which Hill Bros. was entitled to receive the benefit pursuant to Section 5.1 xvi of the Completion Agreement with Travelers. Peters Aff. at ¶5-6 (R.E. 43, R. 2469); Hill 2d Aff. ¶8-9 (R.E. 33, R. 2453). Expecting the Johnson Contract to take over two years more to complete after expiration of the original Contract time, Hill Bros. counted on the petroleum price adjustment provision, in the words of the provision itself, to protect Hill

Bros. from "the uncertainty in estimating the costs of petroleum products that will be required during the life of a contract." Hill 2d Aff. ¶¶9, 42, 45 (R.E. 30, 40, 41, R. 2453, 2460, 2461).

The allowable contract time of the Johnson Contract was extended to March 13, 2004 pursuant to time extensions given by the Commission for excusable delays in Hill Bros.' completion of the Johnson Contract. <u>Id.</u> at ¶35 (R.E. 39, R. 2459). Hill Bros. completed the Johnson Contract exactly two years later in March 2006. <u>Id.</u> at ¶36 (R.E. 39, R. 2459). This meant that Hill Bros. beat its estimate of 840 calendar days stated in its Completion Agreement with Travelers by 83 days. <u>Id.</u> ¶37 (R.E. 39, R. 2459).

Until the expiration of the allowable time, as extended, of the Johnson Contract, the Commission through its subordinate and operating entity, the Mississippi Department of Transportation ("MDOT"), made adjustments monthly to designated pay items affected by oil prices by comparing (a) the baseline price established by MDOT in 2000 for bidding the Contract ultimately awarded to Johnson with (b) the fluctuation in oil prices reflected in the recognized industry-wide index of oil prices maintained and published monthly by MDOT. Hill 1st Aff. ¶10, 13-14 (R.E. 25, 26-27, R. 96, 97-98). However, when allowable time of the Johnson Contract expired over three years later on March 13, 2004, MDOT on behalf of the Commission no longer adjusted prices with relation to monthly cost fluctuations but instead imposed a static differential between the original 2000 baseline price established by MDOT and the oil index price in effect at expiration of contract time in March 2004. Id. at ¶18 (R.E. 27, R. 98).

The impact of this change in methodology was not significantly out of balance with the prices Hill Bros. had to pay for petroleum products until the rapid rise in costs, especially of petroleum prices, following Hurricane Katrina at the end of August 2005. Hill 2d Aff. ¶44 (R.E. 40, R. 2460). However, because petroleum prices just happened to be at a comparatively low point at expiration of time for the Johnson Contract in March 2004, Hill Bros. and its subcontractors spent for petroleum products in completing the Johnson Contract by March 2006 nearly a half million dollars more than payments to Hill Bros. made by MDOT pursuant to its static differential interpretation of the petroleum price adjustment provision when allowable contract time expired. Id. at ¶44-45. (R.E. 40-41, R. 2460-2461).

MDOT rejected protests first made by Travelers on Hill Bros.' behalf and then made directly by Hill Bros. of the unfairness of MDOT's interpretation and application of the petroleum price adjustment provision after expiration of time of the Johnson Contract. Peters Aff. ¶7-8 (R.E. 43-44, R. 2469-2470); Hill 1<sup>st</sup> Aff. ¶19-21 (R.E. 28, R. 99); Hill 2d Aff. ¶14-18 (R.E. 35-36, R. 2455-2456). Rebuffed by MDOT, Hill Bros. took an assignment of the rights and causes of action Travelers had as take-over surety and successor to Johnson under the Johnson Contract in order for Hill Bros. to seek relief against the Commission for underpayments of the petroleum price adjustments that should have been made pursuant to a correct interpretation and proper application of the provision in accordance with the authorizing statute. Peters Aff. ¶¶9-12 (R.E. 44-45, R. 2470-2471); Hill 2d Aff. ¶¶11-18 (R.E. 34-36, R. 2454-2456). Hill Bros. brought the subject action against the Commission pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. §11-7-3 (1972). The

trial court denied the Commission's challenge to Hill Bros.' standing to bring this action as Travelers' assignee. Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order ¶8 (R.E. 6, R. 2522). The Commission did not cross-appeal this issue.

Hill Bros. brought the subject action against the Commission on February 15, 2007, within three years of the commencement in March 2004 by MDOT, on behalf of the Commission, of misapplication and underpayments of the petroleum price adjustment provision after the expiration of contract time, as extended, for the Johnson Contract.

### D. Statement about Oral Argument

Hill Bros. has requested oral argument. Pursuant to M.R.A.P. 34(b), Hill Bros. states that oral argument will be helpful to the Court primarily to give a better understanding of the factual context in which the Commission's interpretation and application of the petroleum price adjustment provision caused such an undeserved hardship on Hill Bros. Hill Bros. further observes that the importance of this issue transcends the one contract specifically at issue because the petroleum price adjustment provision is a standard Special Provision in all MDOT contracts. Particularly because of the unusual volatility seen recently of oil prices quickly rising from around \$2.00 per gallon to nearly \$4.00 per gallon and then falling back to the \$2.00 range in a space of months, the Commission's cessation of price adjustments after expiration of contract time in times of such volatility could be ruinous to Mississippi companies which perform the state's highway work.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

#### III. JURISDICTION AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

On cross-motions for summary judgment, the trial court granted the Commission's motion for complete summary judgment. (R.E. 8, R. 2524). Hill Bros. timely appealed. (R. 2528). This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. §9-3-9 (1972) and Rules 3, 4, and 16 of the Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure. The Mississippi Supreme "Court conducts a de novo review of summary judgment motions and, therefore, considers facts without any deference to the trial court and applies its own interpretations of the law." Richardson v. Methodist Hospital of Hattiesburg, Inc., 807 So. 2d 1244, 1246 (Miss. 2002) (en banc) citing Daniels v. GNB, Inc., 629 So. 2d 595, 599 (Miss. 1993).

## IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Under the objective rule of contract interpretation based upon the "four corners" test of the language actually used, the last sentence of the petroleum price adjustment provision means that the prices in effect at the expiration of contract time became the new fixed baseline from which "adjustments will be computed" based upon fluctuation in actual costs as reflected in monthly indices of petroleum prices published by MDOT.

The Commission interprets the sentence at issue as creating an inflexible price comparison after allowable contract time expires. The Commission's interpretation ceases to allow for further price adjustments and instead imposes a rigid, static, unchanging comparison between (a) the original baseline price established at bidding and (b) the prices in effect at expiration of contract time. As acknowledged by the Commission, its interpretation means that "there is no more adjustment for fuel prices

after that completion date expires. It locks in." Transcript of Oral Argument (R.E. 58-59, Supplemental Record Volume 1 of 1, pp. 26-27); see also Transcript of Oral Argument (R.E. 55-56, R. Vol. 19, pp. 3-4)("at the end of the contract . . . it's not adjusted either way."). Such an interpretation of "no further adjustments" after expiration of contract time is at odds with the language of the sentence at issue which itself states "adjustments will be computed . . . ."

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