IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NO.: 2009-CA-00053

HILL BROTHERS CONSTRUCTION COMPANY

APPELLANT

VS.

MISSISSIPPI TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

On Appeal from the Circuit Court for the First Judicial District, Hinds County, Mississippi

Alan M. Purdie, MSB # PURDIE & METZ, PLLC Post Office Box 2659 Ridgeland, Mississippi 39158 Telephone: (601) 957-1596 Facsimile: (601) 957-2449

Attorney for Mississippi Transportation Commission

I. CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

ARGUMENTS

Argument I: The FAC Is Clear and Unambiguous on its Face and the Lower Court Did Not Err in Granting Judgment as a Matter of Law to the Commission

The lower court determined on two separate occasions that the provision at issue was clear and unambiguous both as read by and as applied by Appellee. Inasmuch as the clause was free of ambiguity, judgment on behalf of the Commission followed as a matter of course. See Pursue Energy Corp. v. Perkins , 558 So. 2d 349, 352 (Miss. 1990) (instrument that is clear, definite, explicit, harmonious in all its provisions, and is free from ambiguity, must be given effect); Gaston v. Mitchell , 4 So. 2d 892, 893 (Miss. 1941) ("construction aids are available only to interpret ambiguity [and] ambiguity may not be created in order to make available a rule of construction").

Without a doubt, the parties disagree about the meaning of the FAC as well as the scope of its application after expiration of contract time. The Commission contends that Special Provision 907-109-10 is capable of clear understanding from

its plain reading. Fuel adjustments are made between contract letting and the completion date but become fixed or locked during the month of completion once the contract time expires. Essentially, Hill Brothers' entire position may be properly viewed as a disagreement about the meaning of this provision. Such disagreement will not make the provision ambiguous, however. *Turner v. Terry*, 799 So. 2d 25, 32 (Miss. 2001); *Cherry v. Anthony*, 501 So.2d 416, 419 (Miss. 1987) Appellant has taken two alternate routes below (and now here) to have the court validate its request for some half a million dollars additional compensation: (1) that the provision is either clear and unambiguous but wrongly interpreted by the Commission; or, alternatively, (2) that the provision is ambiguous on its face and/or as applied by the Commission. These positions are addressed in the order presented by Appellant's brief.⁹

Alternative I: The Commission's interpretation is contrary to its plain language and contrary to the provision's "stated principal purpose." 10

Appellant's initial tact is to argue that the provision is actually unambiguous, and the Appellee's construction is merely wrong. (Brief of Appellant at pp.17-13;20-28) Appellant urges the Court to find that there actually is a "plain meaning" to the

⁹Stated succinctly, the order of argument presented by Appellant in its brief is as follows: (1) that the *interpretation* of the FAC provision by Commission is contrary to its plain meaning and stated purpose; (2) that the provision is ambiguous and thus may be construed against the Commission by application of the doctrine of *contra proferentem* and (3) if the provision is found unambiguous and consistent with the Commission's interpretation, it exceeds the statutory authority of the Commission. (See Brief of Appellant at p. 5.)

¹⁰See Brief of Appellant at p. 1; 12-14.

words employed in Special Provision 907-109-10 and that the real and objective intent of the contracting parties may be ascertained by the "four corners" of the document (contract) at issue. (See Brief of Appellant at pp. 17-19 citing cases.) According to this argument, the provision's plain meaning is that once the contract time expires, fuel prices will continue to be adjusted using Platt's index of prices for the month that the contract expired as a baseline for periodic adjustment until the end of the project. To reach this "plain" reading of the provision, Appellant proffers its own special vocabulary involving "Factor I" and "Factor 2." (Brief of Appellant at pp. 20-22.) This argument's validity hinges solely on the phrase "adjustments will be computed" in the last sentence of the special provision. According to Appellant, the Commission's construction renders this phrase nonsensical and inconsistent with the stated purpose of the provision. In pertinent part, the contract provision provides as follows:

907-109-07 – Changes in Material Costs. Because of the uncertainty in estimating the costs of petroleum products that will be required during the life of a contract, adjustment in compensation for certain materials is provided as follows:

Bituminous products – each month the Department will acquire unit prices from producers or suppliers who supply the State highway construction industry with bituminous products. The average of all quotes for each product will serve as the base price for contracts let in the subsequent month.

Fuels- Selected case price quotations for bulk gasoline and diesel fuel will be taken from Platt's Oilgram PAD 2 and PAD 3. The appropriate adjustment per gallon for gasoline and diesel fuel will be added to the quotations to allow for taxes and markups. The prices thus determined will serve as the base prices for contracts let in the subsequent month.

The established base price for bituminous products and the fuels will be included in the contract documents under a Notice to Bidders entitled "Petroleum Products Base Prices for Contracts let in the (Month and Year)."

Each month thereafter the Engineer will be furnished with the current monthly prices. Adjustments for change in cost will be determined from the difference in the contract base prices and the prices for the period that the work is performed and for the quantities completed provided the price change in a products more than five percent. Adjustments may increase or decrease compensation depending on the difference between the base prices and the prices for the estimated period.

The Adjustments will be determined for the quantities of bituminous products and the average fuel requirements for processing a unit of work as set forth below.

After the expiration of contract time, including all extensions, <u>adjustments will</u> be computed using fuel and material prices that are in effect at the expiration of the contract time.

As is clear from the provision's text, during the life of the contract, adjustments are based on Platt's index. After the contract expiration, there is no further recourse to monthly variations in Platt's indices. Adjustments in compensation are then based on the index price "in effect at the expiration of the contract time," in this case March, 2004. Appellant's argument regarding whether "adjustments" are actually made at the expiration of contract time is nothing more than semantics. ¹¹ Compensation to the contractor goes up or down throughout the life of the contract, and adjustments are made if the threshold of 5% is reached; the only difference is that at the end of the contract time, the adjustment is based on Platt's Oilgram index

¹¹As the lower court correctly perceived. *See* Suppl. R. Vol. 1 of 1, p. 23 ("That's still an adjustment is it not? It's an adjustment from the base price.")

price in effect at that time. Of note, even if the petroleum prices go down by 5 % or more, Appellee still adjusts the payment to the contractor based upon the price in effect at the expiration of contract time.

The adjustment of fuel prices is a stated purpose of the provision. Beyond that, in the absence of directly relevant history as to the provision, little else can be said. Appellant's argument that the Commission's interpretation runs counter to a more specific purpose–reducing uncertainty "during the life of a contract" – proves too little. Appellant has argued from the inception of this dispute that the phrase "contract time" is not ambiguous and has a meaning upon which all parties can agree – the "time allowed in the Contract for completion of the work (herein referred to as the 'Contract Time')." The "life of a contract" extends only to its expiration. While the project may continue on, the life of the contract ends at an appointed time.

The completion agreement between Travelers and Hill Brothers did continue the project's life beyond the contract between the Commission and Johnson which ended in 2004. However, Appellee was not a party to that agreement, and the Commission did not extend the contract time by action upon its Minutes. The fact that the Travelers-Hill Brothers' completion agreement allowed Hill Brothers until 2006 to complete its work and allowed Hill Brothers to continue to receive fuel adjustments does not require the Commission to offer the same adjustments as before the contract time expired.

¹²R. 98.

Appellee would be remiss at this point in not calling attention to Appellant's "gambling" argument or the notion that uncertainty is created by the agency's interpretation of the FAC. But for pure chance, the FAC could have worked to the detriment of Appellee. (Brief of Appellant at pp. 22-26.) The record shows that at times the agency's interpretation of the plain meaning of Special Provision 907-109-07 has favored Appellee and, at other times, Appellant. 13 Whether this interpretation may do mischief to other overdue contractors in the future or, alternatively, the Commission is completely irrelevant. ¹⁴ Appellee agrees that the purpose of the provision during the life of the contract is clearly set forth-the reduction of uncertainty "during the life of the contract." (Brief of Appellant at p. 24.) Yet, whatever its laudatory purpose during the life of the contract, that purpose cannot be revived and injected into the expired contract ("after the expiration of contract time") because the plain meaning of the provision actually forbids such an extrapolation. Ill advised or not, this is the only reasonable reading of the language used--its "plain meaning." Provided with at least two opportunities to determine that

¹³R. 187 (adjustments favorable to Appellant); R. 159 (adjustments favorable to the Appellee)

¹⁴Appellant's argument here suggests some overbreadth analysis. Whatever its merits in the First Amendment arena, this doctrine is not a canon of contract construction and adds nothing to Appellant's argument. Appellant presents this argument under the heading "Laws and Public Policy." Brief of Appellant at p. 24. Yet, Appellant's presentation here actually runs contrary to the analytical framework of the "four corners" approach espoused here. See Landry v. Moody Grishman Agency, Inc., 181 So. 2d 134, 139 (Miss. 1965) (what the parties may have meant or intended not relevant) Mississippi State Highway Commission v. Patterson Enterprises, Ltd. 627 So.2d 261, 263 (Miss 1993) (courts 'concerned with what the contracting parties have said to each other"); IP Timberlands Operating Co. V. Denmiss Corp., 726 So. 416 (Miss. 1987) (same).

the language at issue meant something else entirely, the lower court was correct in holding that the agency's interpretation was consistent with the provision's plain meaning, and its holdings should be affirmed.

The second thrust of the "plain meaning" argument is that the agency's interpretation runs contrary to the statutory mandate that all fuel adjustments be made "with relation to the cost to the contractor." (Brief of Appellant at pp. 24-25.) Miss. Code Ann. § 31-7-13(I) authorizes the Commission to include in highway construction contract documents, provisions allowing price adjustments. The legislation neither limits the time period of those adjustments nor describes in any temporal way in what manner they should operate. When adjustments are made, they need only be "based upon an industry-wide cost index of petroleum products." Both during the life of the contract, as well as after expiration of contract time, an industry-wide cost index" is consulted. Miss. Code Ann. § 31-7-13(I). Moreover, should the Commission choose to include a FAC, the statute itself provides the Commission unfettered latitude as to "the basis and methods of adjusting unit prices." Id. In short, this argument has no merit.

The remainder of Appellant's arguments directed toward the agency's alleged misinterpretation of the "plain meaning" of the provision (Brief of Appellant at pp. 26-27) is merely a rehash of the previous arguments and requires little response. To briefly sum up, neither the statutory authorization for inclusion of the FAC nor the language of the clause itself support the proposition that the clause is intended to protect against uncertainty in petroleum prices for the life of the construction project. By its plain meaning, the protection afforded is limited in scope

and time—"the life of the contract." Appellant's attempt to now equate the phrase "life of the contract" with some ill defined "life of the project" ("until the work has been completed and finally accepted") proves the fallacy of its approach. (Brief of Appellant at pp. 27.)

Under Appellant's approach, adjustments could continue interminably as one prime contractor is replaced by another, thereby increasing the attendant costs to the state in overseeing the project. The Commission's approach instead provides a workable "expiration of contract time" bright line. Successor contractors may always shift the risk of uncertainty to the bonding company that engages them as it sees fit, thereby avoiding further waste to the state. The cardinal rule of construction of a contract is to ascertain the mutual intentions of the parties. Hoerner v. First Nat'l Bank of Jackson, 254 So.2d 754, 759 (Miss. 1971). See also Rubel v. Rubel, 75 So.2d 59 (1954); Cooper v. Crabb, 587 So.2d 236, 239, 241 (Miss. 1991). For better or worse, the intent of these parties is clear from an objective reading of the words employed in the FAC and the lower court should be affirmed.

Alternative II: The fuel adjustment provision is ambiguous as it is unclear "which of two price adjustment factors is being changed "after expiration of contract time" 16

¹⁵They did it in this case. See Completion Agreement.

¹⁶See Brief of Appellant at p. 1. In light of Appellant's constant recourse to extracontractual terminology, it bears pointing out that neither the FAC provision nor the enabling legislation, speaks of "price adjustment factors." While it may have merit as a cognitive tool for organizing Appellant's thoughts, it seems just as great a distraction to the court's task in determining whether the provision is ambiguous.

Here and in the Court below, Appellant argued the FAC was actually vague and ambiguous, a position mutually exclusive to its argument that the Commission simply does not know how to apply its plain meaning. To arrive at this conclusion, Appellant deploys a multi-step approach. First, Appellant describes the price of fuel at contract letting as an "adjustment factor." (See Brief at p. 29.17) Respectfully, inasmuch as the baseline never adjusts, it is not an "adjustment factor." Plainly put, the baseline price never changes. To suggest that the Commission changes the baseline at the expiration of contract time is creative but not correct. Next, Appellant describes the MDOT monthly price indices as the second "adjustment factor." *Id.* From there, Appellant forms the premise of its entire ambiguity argument—

When the allowable contract time runs out, the last sentence of the petroleum price adjustment provision replaces one of these factors with the prices in effect at the expiration of contract. However, the petroleum price adjustment provision does not specify whether this new criterion replaces original Factor 1 or Factor 2. The Commission argues for Factor 2 but, for reasons previously given, Factor 1 is more logical. If arguments can be made for either Factor, then the provision must be regarded as ambiguous.

(Brief of Appellant at p. 29.) There are numerous problems with this formulation.

First, "the last sentence of the petroleum price adjustment provision" does not "replace one of these factors" when the contract expires. The "established base

¹⁷[T]he Commission . . . before expiration of contract time, employs two adjustment factors: Factor 1 being baseline pricing established in the bid notice and resulting contract. . .

¹⁸ The established base price for bituminous products and the fuels will be included in the contract documents under a Notice to Bidders entitled 'Petroleum Products Base Prices for Contracts let in the (Month and Year)'"

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